#### The Social Construction of Libra

A Research Paper submitted to the Department of Engineering and Society

Presented to the Faculty of the School of Engineering and Applied Science University of Virginia • Charlottesville, Virginia

> In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Bachelor of Science, School of Engineering

> > Jack Schumann Spring, 2020

On my honor as a University Student, I have neither given nor received unauthorized aid on this assignment as defined by the Honor Guidelines for Thesis-Related Assignments

Signature **Ack Schumann** Date <u>5/5/20</u> Jack Schumann

Approved \_

\_\_\_\_ Date \_\_\_\_\_

Travis Elliott, Department of Engineering and Society

#### Abstract

In 2019 Facebook announced its developmental global cryptocurrency: Libra. In this paper, I explore the social construction of this cryptocurrency, drawing from the Social Construction of Technology (SCOT) and Emperical Programme of Relativism (EPOR). The story of variation and selection from the traditional banking sector, to Bitcoin, to Libra is told through the lens of relevant social groups, namely the billions of unbanked and underbanked. Throughout this analysis, several tactics used by companies and policy makers are made visible when interpreted as an exploit in the SCOT framework. As a result of these exploits, I observe the importance of the SCOT framework despite its age as well as the need for the framework to develop further in the context of the digital age via a concept I call 'Core-Groups'.

# Contents

1	Introduction	3
2	Framework Background	3
3	Libra Background	4
4	Analysis	5
	4.1 Relevant Social Groups and Interpretive Flexibility	5
	4.2 Early Variation	6
	4.3 Enter Libra	7
	4.4 Gaming SCOT	8
	4.5 Further Variation	10
5	A Modern SCOT	10
6	Conclusion	11

# **1** Introduction

The primary purpose of this thesis is to use the Libra cryptocurrency and its generated controversy to better understand how technological artifacts are socially constructed and adopted. To this end, I draw from the theory of Social Construction of Technology (SCOT) as well as its predecessor Emperical Programme of Relativism (EPOR) and aim to develop the theory further. The technology of focus, Libra, is a cryptocurrency developed by Facebook with huge implications for the unbanked, the developed world, the remittance industry, and other relevant groups. With Facebook's daily user count of 2.1 billion people (Facebook, 2019), Libra could stand to threaten sovereign currency, existing banking systems, and government control over fiscal policy. As a result, understanding how Libra was socially constructed is an issue of importance. In order to reach this understanding, I first introduce the key ideas of SCOT. I then cover background on Libra as a technology and existing goals for the project. Finally, I use the tools provided by SCOT to understand how Libra and similar technologies are constructed, and how this process conforms and deviates from the SCOT's expectations.

# 2 Framework Background

In analyzing the factors contributing towards the success or failure of Libra's adoption, I elect to use the Social Construction of Technology (SCOT) as a guiding theory for my analysis. There are several key concepts provided by SCOT that will be useful in examining Libra's developments. These include the principle of symmetry, the idea of a relevant social group, the concept of interpretive flexibility, and the concept of closure mechanics as noted by Pinch and Bijker's seminal paper: The Social Construction of Facts and Artefacts (1984). Pinch and Bijker suggest that in order to avoid an overly simplistic and linear analysis of technological development, successes and failures should be treated symmetrically in analysis. With this in mind, it seems appropriate to use SCOT to analyze Libra that is 'in construction', since I am unaware of the technology's success or failure at the time of committing to this topic.

The SCOT framework begins with relevant social groups. In the development of technologies, there are differently affected social groups, and in order to analyze these different effects, we first must identify the groups. These groups have different interpretations of the technology, a phenomenon called interpretive flexibility. For example, immigrant workers may interpret Libra as a way to avoid the 7% average cost of sending money internationally (Constine, 2019), while US lawmakers may view the technology as a threat to the US Dollar (Torpey, 2019). These different interpretations lead to different wants and variations on the core technology. Noticing this effect was the motivation for Pinch and Bijker's description of technological development as "an alternation of variation and selection" (Pinch and Bijker, 1984). Within the topic of cryptocurrency, variation can be observed both before Libra's announcement through other 'stablecoins' and after Libra's announcement with competitors like Celo.

Lastly comes the concept of closure mechanics. Here SCOT draws from EPOR, noting the success of analyzing controversial scientific claims via the concept of a 'Core-Set' or 'controversy group'. The idea of a Core-Set is that in scientific controversy, a set of experts arise whose opinions can be monitored to determine when consensus is reached. At the outset of this paper, I was hopeful that a Core-Set would arise in the case of Libra due it its exceptional publicity; however, it seems that due to the lack of authority any individual has on a piece of technology, a different kind of analysis is required.

## 3 Libra Background

Libra's goal is best described by its white paper, stating: "This is the goal for Libra: A stable currency built on a secure and stable open-source blockchain, backed by a reserve of real assets, and governed by an independent association." (Libra Association et al., 2019). In the white paper, Libra claims that those with less money pay more for financial services in the form of high loan rates, overdraft fees, wire costs, and other costs. By offering a more efficient system that removes the current requirement of trust in centralized authority, Libra could significantly

reduce these inequalities. Without the overhead of maintaining trust in the financial system, Libra could significantly reduce transaction costs. As a result, this technology has the opportunity to make an already global economy more global and more inclusive. The white paper summarizes, stating: "The association defines success as enabling any person or business globally to have fair, affordable, and instant access to their money."

In studying the development of Libra, it is important to distinguish Libra from Facebook. Facebook aims to be just one of many companies forming the non-profit called the Libra Association where Facebook will only have one vote. However, Facebook will oversee the development of Libra as an open-source technology to help make the system viable. As for why Facebook would make such a thing, Facebook CEO Mark Zuckerberg explains to the US Congress that "when we eliminate friction for customer buying something from a business they and the value of advertising goes up" (Zuckerberg, 2019). However, this indirect motive for Facebook's construction of Libra has been the cause of some public distrust.

# 4 Analysis

#### 4.1 Relevant Social Groups and Interpretive Flexibility

To begin this analysis, recognize the relevant social groups in technology for monetary transfer. Most prominently stand the first-world citizens who are included in the global economy. Their money and credit scores allow them the benefits of low transaction fees, access to brokerage and bank accounts, alongside other rewards. Then there are those who are in some part excluded from the global economy. Careful not to subdivide too far, I believe it is worth breaking down this latter category a degree further. Firstly, are the unbanked, about 1.7 billion people (Libra Association et al., 2019), who lack a reliable way to interact meaningfully with any large economy. It is hard to understate how disabling being unbanked is for this near-third of the global population. The unbanked have no consistent way to send or receive money. That means paying bills, receiving pay, receiving credit, tracking expenses, saving money, and many

other common financial actions are suddenly difficult and potentially dangerous. Secondly, there are the underbanked, who are banked, but are under-served by the existing banking system, resorting to alternative financial services like payday loans or subprime mortgage loans. The underbanked may be immigrants who inefficiently send money home, Americans who do not meet credit requirements, or even people who simply do not trust a bank. In 2017, these two categories made up over twenty-five percent of households in America, an exceptionally developed country (Apaam et al., 2017).

Examining the interpretive flexibility of banking as whole, note the FDIC found over half of the unbanked surveyed felt they did not have enough money to open an account. Thirty percent did cited not trusting banks as a reason to not have an account, and twenty-eight expressed privacy concerns (Apaam et al., 2017). From this, it is easy to see that the unbanked and underbanked may interpret the banking system as a financial hazard. Unsurprisingly, customers of banks report that their bank is reputable 77% percent of the time (Garver, 2018).

### 4.2 Early Variation

As outlined by SCOT, this interpretive flexibility results in variation into new technologies that can in turn be interpreted flexibly. The earliest and most impactful example is Bitcoin. Before Bitcoin was a massively traded financial asset, it was an idea from 2009 to remove the need for trust in financial institutions while providing privacy through anonymous transactions (Nakamoto, 2019). To understand how impactful this technology was, note in 2017 the total active user count for any cryptocurrency was estimated at 5.8 million (Hileman and Rauchs, 2017). However in 2018, a Bitcoin-based financial services platform hit a user count of 5 million by serving the Philippines. This huge user base is in part due the Philippines' remittance flow of 30 billion dollars, ranking in the top five in the world at the time (Lichtfous et al., 2018). This number of 5 million additional non-traditionally banked is especially impressive, considering the central bank of the Philippines only estimated 15.8 million Filipinos were banked in any traditional bank in 2017 (de Guzman, 2018).

Despite this particular success, the total user count of 5.8 million is simply not comparable to the 1.7 billion unbanked. The core problem that Bitcoin fails to overcome is its volatility. Simply put, Bitcoin is not a reliable store of value. In fact, it was so volatile that NYU Economics Professor Nouriel Roubini called Bitcoin "the mother of all bubbles" (Monaghan, 2018).

From Bitcoin and its volatility, a chase develops for the mythic 'stablecoin', a digital token that maintains a stable value. These coins can be fiat-backed, crypto-backed, or resourcebacked, or they can even attempt to be non-collateralized. As found by a survey of these attempts (Mita et al., 2019), crypto-backed stablecoins fluctuate wildly in accordance with the cryptocurrencies they are backed by and non-collateralized attempts "cannot sufficiently ensure the constant purchasing power". The fiat-backed and resource-backed share the same problem in that they return to requiring trust in a central authority to 'cash out'.

Overall, it is interesting to note that as financial technology moves closer to software engineering, variation seems to have increased drastically as we see the number of cryptocurrencies grow from less than seven hundred to over two thousand from 2017 to 2019, many of them chasing the idea of a stablecoin (Chan, 2018). This rapid variation is praised in software engineering as 'iteration' in 'agile' development, and maybe it is no coincidence that software engineering produces an enormous amount of innovation as a sector. The strength of such a link should be further explored to better understand the components of innovation, but is outside the scope of this paper.

#### 4.3 Enter Libra

In June 2019, Facebook's Libra cryptocurrency is announced. It attempts to protect the value of its users as a fiat-backed stable-coin, while establishing the most trustworthy central authority it can practically create: the Libra Association. The Libra Association aims to be a board of over one hundred major companies of which Facebook is just one (Libra Association et al., 2019). At this point there is an explosion of interpretations surrounding this new technology. Facebook views Libra as a massive stride towards financial inclusion while some politicians

view this as "a threat to national sovereignty" (Maire, 2019). Other politicians defend Libra as a piece of American innovation (Bursztynsky, 2019) while a researcher from Malaysia writes "At the backdrop of US-China trade war and the regulatory backlash to force Facebook to halt its Libra project, one is compelled to wonder till when the United States will exploit the world's scarce resources and how many more lives will be perished for petrodollar so that the U.S. can continue enjoying the 'exorbitant privilege' of dollar hegemony." (Taskinsoy, 2019) Regardless of one's views, it is easy to observe that Libra has been incredibly disruptive and divisive as just a variant of financial technology. This phenomenal level of reaction calls in to question what causes such a reaction: is it the scale of the technology? is it the reputation of Facebook? the reputation of the United States? While this question is outside the scope of this paper, an extension of SCOT to predict divisiveness or difficulty of stabilization in technology would almost certainly prove fruitful.

#### 4.4 Gaming SCOT

Now that variation on financial technology has been examined and Libra has been introduced, let us examine the ways that various parties, whether knowingly or not, attempt to invoke SCOT's closure mechanics to reach stabilization. Recall that EPOR outlines three explanatory stages, interpreting flexibly, reaching closure mechanisms, and relating the artifact to "the wider sociopolitical milieu". Pinch and Bijker note that in reaching rhetorical closure "problems need not be solved in the common sense of that word. The key point is whether the relevant social groups see the problem as being solved." (Pinch and Bijker, 1984) In the case of Libra we see appeals to rhetorical closure from various organizations. For example, popular tech-news publication The Verge continues to erroneously report "Facebook no longer intends to make the Libra token" (Statt, 2020) despite its source article correcting itself to reflect that Libra is being pursued (Heath, 2020). Readers can also observe the introduced "Keep Big Tech Out Of Finance Act" in the US House of representatives which rather pointedly bans large tech companies from disrupting financial industries as an attempt at a kind of legal closure on technological development(Garcia, 2019). What may be most interesting is that due to the sheer scale of Facebook and its potential partners in the Libra Association, Libra may be able to skip EPOR's closure stage all together and brute-force its way into the third stage of popular influence. This skipping is what would occur if Libra makes it to launch, which is contingent on US lawmaker approval. The technology could be placed into the hands of one third of the global population nearly instantly. Numbers like these could easily dwarf the estimated active cryptocurrency wallet users of 5.8 million users (Hileman and Rauchs, 2017). This level of reach was likely unimaginable in the 1980's when SCOT was first being formalized. It would be interesting to see if this new kind of closure by force is commonly used to construct technology in the future.

Another way groups can try to game the process observed by SCOT is to limit interpretive flexibility. In the case of Libra, this is done most visibly through smearing Mark Zuckerberg's face on denominations of currency. Looking to Figure 1, we see a congressman push the interpretation of Libra as a United States Dollar replacement controlled by Mark Zuckerberg. Looking to almost any news story featuring Libra, it is easy to observe similar acts (Statt, 2020) (Lee, 2020). This attack on interpretive flexibility is especially potent as modern news consumers can be profoundly influenced by emotionally charged image thumbnails and titles (Keib et al., 2018).



Figure 1: A slide presented by US Representative Brad Sherman during a congressional meeting with Mark Zuckerberg (Zuckerberg, 2019)

#### 4.5 Further Variation

While Libra may be the most disruptive development in recent financial technologies, it may not be what society stabilizes to. Due to immense regulatory pressure, Facebook has announced that its wallet for transacting Libra currency is pivoting towards supporting fiat currency (Heath, 2020). In the meantime, other variants on this idea have been proposed. For example, a tech startup named Celo has raised over thirty million dollars to build what as been touted as "Libra Minus Facebook" (Cuen, 2020). This startup exemplifies how the social bag-gage carried by Facebook can actually contribute to the construction of technological artifacts. Another example is China's upcoming digital currency. With an unbanked population of 225 million people (Demirguc-Kunt et al., 2018), China is ripe for efficiency gains from a form of crytpobanking and is expected to launch a Libra-inspired, government-controlled cryptocurrency by the end of 2020 (Bram, 2020).

## 5 A Modern SCOT

Through my analysis, SCOT has proved to be still useful in examining the construction of modern technologies. Modern concepts of user groups and iterative cycles are almost perfectly analogous to SCOT's concepts of relevant social groups and variation. However, much has changed since the inception of SCOT in 1984. The internet has become mainstream, news publications have moved online, misinformation has become a popular issue, and consensus feels harder to reach than ever. With news moving online and a rise in media consolidation, we see many outlets regurgitating the same stories. This was the case for the aforementioned article from The Verge (Statt, 2020), as it was reporting on an exclusive from The Information (Heath, 2020) which was later corrected. The shape of news has changed to allow media conglomerates to limit interpretive flexibility. As a result, one finds that a group of news outlets can exhibit rhetorical stabilization without the relevant social groups feeling that any problem is solved. On the other hand, the power and reach of producers of technological artifacts have grown to the point that these producers may force the adoption of technology regardless of the wants of any relevant social group.

As a result of these inadequacies, I would like to see a new concept of Core-Groups appear formalized alongside the SCOT framework. A Core-Group would be a group of actors that many stakeholders look to for closure. In the case of Libra, Core-Groups could include the mainstream news outlets, the cryptocurrency news websites, or the group of United States regulators. Looking to another emerging technology, 5G, one could label conspiracy media producers, cell-service providers, and state actors Core-Groups and then examine how these groups interact via social media platforms, advertisers, and consumers in the adoption of the technology. Pinch and Bijker themselves acknowledged that "In technology it seems that there is no equivalent group [to the Core-Set], and that a number of social groups must be studied." (Pinch and Bijker, 1984) I call for this concept to be extended from analysis of huge social groups to more manageable Core-Groups which can be looked to for consensus. These Core-Groups could be considered a middle step between EPOR's Core-Set and SCOT's relevant social groups.

# 6 Conclusion

In summary, Libra is observed to be a socially constructed technology in spite of the remarkably technical science backing it. Libra falls into a broader category of technologies which aim to remove fees and trust from traditional financial systems as a prerequisite to banking the billions unbanked and underbanked. I observe that the ideas of stabilization provided by SCOT are visibly gamed by core groups of actors, speaking to the need for more study into modern closure mechanisms. However, these exploits do not detract from SCOT; rather, they speak to the prevalence of an over thirty year old framework in the construction modern technology. With this prevalence, it is essential that not just academics, but practitioners like product managers add the concepts of SCOT to their analysis in order to view the large social scope of any technology and its launch.

# References

- Apaam, G., Burhouse, S., Chu, K., Ernst, K., Fritzdixon, K., Goodstein, R., and Weinstein, J. (2017). Fdic national survey of unbanked and underbanked households. *Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation*, pages 994–1006.
- Bram, B. (2020). Inside china's mission to create an all-powerful cryptocurrency. https://www.wired.co.uk/article/china-digital-currency-crypto.
- Bursztynsky, J. (2019). Gop congressman: Libra hearing is 'american innovation on trial' by lawmakers who don't get it. https://www.cnbc.com/2019/10/23/gop-rep-patrick-mchenry-on-facebook-ceo-mark-zuckerberg-libra-hearing.html.
- Chan, C. (2018). Cryptocurrencies: growing in number but falling in value. https://graphics.reuters.com/CRYPTO-CURRENCIES-CONFLICTS/0100818S2BW/index.html.
- Constine, J. (2019). Facebook announces libra cryptocurrency: All you need to know. https://techcrunch.com/2019/06/18/facebook-libra/.
- Cuen, L. (2020). Libra minus facebook: Why celo is 2020's buzzy token project. https://www.coindesk.com/libra-minus-facebook-why-celo-is-2020s-buzzytoken-project.
- de Guzman, L. (2018). 77% of filipinos remain unbanked. https://cnnphilippines.com/ business/2018/07/11/2017-financial-inclusion-survey-bsp.html.
- Demirguc-Kunt, A., Klapper, L., Singer, D., Ansar, S., and Hess, J. (2018). *The Global Findex Database 2017: Measuring financial inclusion and the fintech revolution*. The World Bank.
- Facebook (2019). Facebook reports second quarter 2019 results.
- Garcia, J. (2019). H.r.4813 keep big tech out of finance act. US Congress, 116th Congress, House of Representatives.
- Garver, R. (2018). Bank reputations fall for first time in five years: 2018 survey. American Banker.
- Heath, A. (2020). Facebook revamps libra plans, bowing to regulators. https: //www.theinformation.com/articles/facebook-scales-back-libra-plans-bowingto-regulators.
- Hileman, G. and Rauchs, M. (2017). Global cryptocurrency benchmarking study. *Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance*, 33.
- Keib, K., Espina, C., Lee, Y.-I., Wojdynski, B. W., Choi, D., and Bang, H. (2018). Picture this: The influence of emotionally valenced images, on attention, selection, and sharing of social media news. *Media Psychology*, 21(2):202–221.
- Lee, T. B. (2020). Facebook denies reports it is backing away from libra cryptocurrency. https://arstechnica.com/tech-policy/2020/03/facebook-denies-reportsit-is-backing-away-from-libra-cryptocurrency/.

- Libra Association et al. (2019). Libra white paper. Internet access:< https://libra.org/en-US/whitepaper/>,[accessed June 19, 2019].
- Lichtfous, M., Yadav, V., and Fratino, V. (2018). Can blockchain accelerate financial inclusion globally.
- Maire, B. L. (2019). Facebook's libra is a threat to national sovereignty. https://www.ft.com/ content/bf2f588e-ef63-11e9-a55a-30afa498db1b.
- Mita, M., Ito, K., Ohsawa, S., and Tanaka, H. (2019). What is stablecoin?: A survey on price stabilization mechanisms for decentralized payment systems. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1906.06037*.
- Monaghan, A. (2018). Bitcoin biggest bubble in history, says economist who predicted 2008 crash. https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2018/feb/02/bitcoin-biggestbubble-in-history-says-economist-who-predicted-2008-crash.
- Nakamoto, S. (2019). Bitcoin: A peer-to-peer electronic cash system. Technical report, Manubot.
- Pinch, T. J. and Bijker, W. E. (1984). The social construction of facts and artefacts: Or how the sociology of science and the sociology of technology might benefit each other. *Social studies of science*, 14(3):399–441.
- Statt, N. (2020). Facebook is shifting its libra cryptocurrency plans after intense regulatory pressure. https://www.theverge.com/2020/3/3/21163658/facebook-libracryptocurrency-token-ditching-plans-calibra-wallet-delay.
- Taskinsoy, J. (2019). Facebook's libra: Why does us government fear price stable cryptocurrency? *Available at SSRN 3482441*.
- Torpey, K. (2019). Congressman warns bitcoin is a threat to the u.s. dollar. https: //www.forbes.com/sites/ktorpey/2019/10/23/congressman-warns-bitcoin-isa-threat-to-the-us-dollar/.
- Zuckerberg, M. (2019). An examination of facebook and its impact on the financial services and housing sectors. US Congress, 116th Congress, House Financial Services Committee.